
 

 

 

 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

Finance Panel (Panel of the 
Scrutiny Committee) 
 
 
 

Date: Wednesday 8 October 2014 

Time: 5.30 pm 

Place: Plowman Room - Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer  

Telephone: 01865 252230 

Email: abrown2@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting. 
 



 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription. 

 

 

 
 

Finance Panel (Panel of the Scrutiny Committee) 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair Councillor Craig Simmons  
 
 Councillor James Fry  

 Councillor Roy Darke  

 Councillor Jean Fooks  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 

 
 
  Pages 

1 APOLOGIES 

 

 

 Quorum for the Panel is 3 Members. 

 

 

2 WORK PROGRAMME 

 

1 - 2 

 For the Panel to review its work programme for the remainder of 2014-2015. 

 

 

3 BUDGET SCRUTINY SCOPE AND TIMETABLE 

 

3 - 6 

 For the Panel to agree its approach to the Budget Scrutiny review, including 
the timetable and meeting dates. 

 

 

4 MUNICIPAL BONDS 

 

7 - 18 

 For the Panel to consider the City Councils approach to municipal bonds.  
The following documents are included to aid the discussion: 
 

- Briefing note on the proposed scheme for a Municipal Bonds Agency 
– Oxford City Council 

- Municipal Bonds Agency business case summary - The Local 
Government Association  

- Municipal bonds questions and answers – The Local Government 
Association 

 

 

5 FUTURE MEETING DATES 

 

 

 21 January 2015 
5 February 2015 

 

 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but also those of 
the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 



30 September 2014 

Finance Panel work programme 2014-15 
 

Items for Finance Panel meetings 
 

Suggested Topic Suggested approach / area(s) for focus 

Budget Scrutiny Review of the Council’s medium term financial strategy. 

Budget monitoring Regular monitoring of projected budget outturns through the year. 

Treasury Management Scrutiny of the Treasury Management Strategy and regular monitoring of Treasury performance. 

Capital process To receive an update on the implementation of the Capital Gateway process. 

Maximising European 
funding 

To consider how the City Council can maximise funding opportunities; invite local MEPs to contribute 
to the discussion. 

Municipal bonds To receive an update on the establishment of a municipal bonds agency.  

Ethical investment To monitor the City Council’s approach to implementing an ethical investment policy. 

Council tax exemptions To receive an update on the financial implications of different types of exemptions. 

 
Draft Finance Panel agenda schedule 

 

Date, room and time Agenda Item Lead Member; Officer(s) 

8 October 2014, St 
Aldate’s Room, 5.30pm 

1. Municipal bonds 
 

2. Budget Review - scope proposal 
 

Nigel Kennedy 
 
Andrew Brown 

21 January 2015, St 
Aldate’s Room, 5.30pm 

1. Capital programme process review update 
 

2. European funding 
 

David Edwards, Stephen Clarke, Nigel 
Kennedy 
MEPs, Heads of Service, Mark Lundy? 
 

5 February 2015, St 
Aldate’s Room, 5.30pm 
 

1. Budget monitoring – quarter 3 
 

2. Treasury Management Strategy 15/16 

Nigel Kennedy 
 
Anna Winship 

1

A
genda Item

 2



 

2



 

 
 

                                                                               
 
To: Scrutiny Finance Panel      
 
Date: 8 October 2014              

 
Report of: Scrutiny Panel Chair  
 
Title: Scrutiny Review of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2015-19    
   

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: To propose to the Panel an outline scope and timetable for 
review of the MTFS for 2015 to 2019.  
          
Key decision: No  
 
Scrutiny Lead Member: Councillor Simmons 
 
Policy Framework: Effective, Efficient Council 
 
Recommendation(s):  
 

1. Comment on and agree the focus for the scrutiny budget review. 
2. Comment on and agree the process timetable. 
3. Set dates for: 

• Initial meeting to identify extra information and questions – 11 December 2014 

• 3 meetings with officers and Board Members – w/c 12 January 2015 

• Drafting recommendations – 21 Finance Panel meeting 

• Review of final Budget Report – 4 February 2015 
 

 
Introduction 
 

1. The draft budget and MTFS is schedule to be agreed at the City Executive 
Board (CEB) meeting on 17 December 2014.  The paperwork for this meeting 
will be published by 9 December 2014.  
 

2. The budget proposals are currently being developed via a review of all the 
grant assumptions, savings and efficiencies, challenges, pressures, reserves 
and contingencies agreed in the MTFS in February 2014.  The Head of 
Finance has advised that this exercise will involve a more detailed review of 
base budgets than in previous years. 

 
3. As in previous years, it is proposed that the scrutiny review process will begin 

once the consultation budget and MTFS is advertised for consultation.   

 

3

Agenda Item 3



Scope and Timetable 
 

4. The Chair recommends that the focus for the Panel is: 

• Policy and schemes for allocating contingencies and earmarked reserves, 

• Assumptions for grants and corporate challenges, 

• Robustness of savings and efficiencies, 

• Estimates for current and new income streams, 

• Budget pressures and link to current spending, 

• All proposals within the HRA and Business Plan, 

• Whether the budget proposals support the City Council’s Corporate Plan. 
 

5. The Chair recommends that the Panel follow the process used in previous 
years, the outline and timing of this process is detailed in the table below. 

 

Stage  What happens When 

Draft budget 
published 

Consultation budget published in City 
Executive Board paperwork for 17 
December meeting. 

9 December 2014 
(by 5pm) 

Scrutiny Members 
consulted 

Request to all Scrutiny Councillors to 
highlight issues for consideration by the 
Finance Panel. 

10 December 
2014 

Initial meeting to 
identify additional 
information and 
questions 

Finance Panel members consider the 
information presented in the consultation 
budget, budget monitoring for 2014/15 and 
data on contingencies and decide: 

• Extra information required 

• Questions 
Housing Panel members are asked to 
contribute to housing questions. 

11 December 
2014 

Information 
requests sent 

Request for answers and information sent 
out to the organisation for response. 

15 December 
2014 

City Executive 
Board meeting 

Consultation Budget considered by City 
Executive Board. 

17 December 
2014 

Scrutiny review 
meetings with 
Board Members 
and Senior 
Officers 

3 meetings: 

• Executive Director City Regeneration 
and Housing plus appropriate Board 
Members and the Head of Service for 
Housing.  Housing Panel Members to 
attend housing discussion. 

• Executive Director Community 
Services plus appropriate Board 
Members. 

• Executive Director Organisational 
Development and Corporate Services, 
Chief Executive and appropriate Board 
Members. 

Information gathered and responses to 
question used as the basis for discussions 
on budget proposals.  Panel Members to 

Three dates in w/c 
12 January 2015 
 
Responses to 
information 
requests to be 
received no later 
than 3 days before 
these meetings 
 
Any final requests 
and questions out 
by 16 January 
2015 
 

4



hold a summary session at the end of 
each meeting to identify any final 
questions or requests. 

Draft 
recommendations 
agreed 

Finance Panel members consider 
evidence gathered and agree draft 
recommendations. 

21 January 2015 
Finance Panel 
meeting 

Scrutiny report 
drafted 

Scrutiny report drafted around agreed 
recommendation areas. 

21 January to 5 
February 2015 

Final Budget 
Report published 

Final Budget Report published in the 
paperwork for the 11 February City 
Executive Board meeting. 

3 February 2015 
(by 5pm) 

Final review 
meeting 

Finance Panel Members consider any 
significant changes in the published 
Budget Report. 

4 February 2015 

Scrutiny report 
finalised 

Any changes made following the final 
review meeting. 

4 February 2015 

Report out to 
Board Member for 
comment 

Opportunity for Board Member to consider 
recommendations and make comment 
before consideration at the City Executive 
Board.   

5 February 2015 

Report circulated 
to all Scrutiny 
Members 

Report circulated to all Scrutiny 
Councillors for consideration as it can’t be 
formally agreed at a Scrutiny Committee 
Meeting. 

5 February 2015 

Final report 
published 

Panel report published as a supplement to 
the City Executive Board paperwork for 11 
February CEB. 

6 February 2015 

Scrutiny report 
presented to City 
Executive Board  

Councillor Simmons to present the scrutiny 
report. 

11 February 2015 
CEB meeting 

Scrutiny report and 
budget report 
considered by 
Council 

Councillor Simmons to present the scrutiny 
report. 

18 February 2015 
Council meeting 

 
6. This timetable does not allow the final report to go to the City Executive Board 

via the Scrutiny Committee.  Instead it consults all scrutiny councillors at the 
questioning and final report stages.  This is acceptable within the operational 
arrangements agreed by the Scrutiny Committee.  The Scrutiny Committee 
will have an opportunity to discuss and agree the budget scrutiny process at 
its meeting on 10 November 2014.  

 

Name and contact details of author:- 
Name: Andrew Brown on behalf of the Chair of the Finance Scrutiny Panel  
Job title: Scrutiny Officer 
Service Area: Law and Governance 
Tel:  01865 252230  e-mail:  abrown2@oxford.gov.uk 

 
List of background papers: None     
Version number: 1 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



Briefing note on the proposed scheme for a Municipal Bonds Agency 
 
To  Finance Scrutiny Panel 
 
From  Nigel Kennedy, Head of Finance 
 
Author Anna Winship, Financial Accounting Manager 
 
Date  29thSeptember 2014 
 
Background 
Led by the Local Government Association work to establish a Municipal Bonds 
Agency finally got under way in 2014. The single purpose of the LGA is to reduce 
councils' capital costs over the long term which it will do by: 
 

• Raising money on the capital markets through issuing bonds  

• Arranging lending or borrowing directly between local authorities  

• Sourcing funding from other third party sources such as banks, pension funds 
and insurance companies – 
 

It aims to be able to lend to eligible councils at a lower rate than the PWLB or than if 
the councils were to issue their own bonds. This lower rate will be attained by: 

• Achieving a AAA/sovereign-like credit rating through a joint and several 

guarantee (see section 6 of the business case) and adequate risk capital of 

three to five per cent of the total volume of bonds (see section 4.6.2.8 of the 

business case). 

• Issuing bonds in benchmark sizes of £250 million to £300 million. 

• Sourcing capital at low interest rates from third parties 

Forty Councilshave now joined the Agency and have raised over £4.5 million to 
enable the agency to be set up and the first meeting of the future shareholders has 
now been held. The target is £8 - £10 million. 
 
This is a new cash lending facility which will compete directly with other sources of 
funding, including that offered by PWLB, and it is expected that the Agency will issue 
its first bond in April 2015. 
 
Expressions of interest have been sought from Councils in respect of either 
borrowing from the facility at a later date or providing initial capital for the venture. 
 
Setup 
The agency, trading under the name Local Capital Finance Company, will be an 
independent company owned by Local Government with the sole aim of reducing 
financing cost for Councils.  LGA are project sponsors and therefore control 
Governance.  It will be a limited company with its own Board of Directors from local 
authority finance backgrounds. 

7

Agenda Item 4



 
Participating authorities will be local authorities that invest in the setting up of the 
Agency or invest risk capital to capitalise the Agency and fund it through its early 
years.  Those authorities that invest in its establishment will own and will become 
shareholders in the Agency and have a say in how its run.  It is envisaged that the 
risk capital invested will be returned to authorities after 10 years of successful 
operations having earned interest at commercial rates.  
 
Authorities will still have the opportunity to invest in the agency throughout the rest of 
the year to complete the raising of the capital required. 
 
It is anticipated that once the Agency is generating sufficient profit, it would be able 
to start paying a dividend to investors, while delivering economic benefits to 
borrowers.  Its shares will be transferrable and therefore a council could sell its 
shares to other local authorities or eligible public bodies. 
 
Providers of finance will need to undergo a credit process. This will underpin the 
agency’s credit rating, enabling the agency to achieve good interest rates.  The 
credit process will be tailored to Councils and the Agency and will not be excessively 
onerous. 
 
A joint and several guarantee creates the prospect of much cheaper borrowing.  It 
will also enable the bonds to be listed on the London Stock Exchange.  Overall it 
could reduce the borrowing costs by 20 to 25 bps. 
 
The agency will have in place a credit process, underpinned by on-going monitoring; 
risk and liquidity capital; and a right of recourse, which will ensure, in the event of the 
guarantee being called, that it will be applied proportionally.  Even if the guarantee 
was to be called, creditors would be confident of receiving their money back in time.  
The protections available would be stronger than currently apply in the case of inter-
council lending.  Nevertheless, no local authority has ever defaulted and for the joint 
and several guarantees to be called an unprecedented situation would have arisen. 
 
Process 
The agency will raise capital on the financial markets through the sale of bonds and 
on lend the proceeds to eligible Councils at a lower rate than the PWLB or than if 
Councils were to issue their own bonds. 
 
This lower rate will be attained by: 

• Achieving a AAA/sovereign like credit rating through a joint and several 
guarantee and adequate risk capital of three to five per cent of the total 
volume of bonds 

• Issuing bonds in benchmark sizes of £250m to £300m 
 
The agency’s operating capital should be raised from Councils or related bodies as 
common equity.  An equity structure would allow the trading of shares and give the 
Agency a decision making framework over profit retention and dividends. 
 
The agency would issue two bonds in its first year with approx. 30-40 borrowers.  
Council borrowing will need to match the bonds maturity profiles in the initial issue. 

8



 
Councils have been advised that they will need to set out details of their long-term 
borrowing plans if they take borrowing from the agency 
 
Risks 
The main risk is that the agency is not able to raise the initial operating capital 
required to set up. 
 
Other risks are market pricing, including the price of bond issue; the ability and 
likelihood that PWLB will reduce its rates to make them more competitive.  Is there 
enough Council demand to use this vehicle to borrow and can the agency 
attractenough of the right calibre of personnel to administer it and provide the 
governance it requires. 
 
Treasury Advisors View 
This is a good idea and a scheme that could work, but a fear is that PWLB will 
reduce their rates to match or better the borrowing offered by this scheme. 
 
A number of other questions have also been raised by Sector, around the demand 
for this facility and the timing of the availability of the borrowing, when the current 
market is in a low interest rate environment.  This is not the right time in the interest 
rate cycle to be lending long-term, this is based on various interest rate forecasts 
that long-term rates will increase over the medium to longer term. 
 
The Joint and Several guarantee raises questions over whether it will provide a lower 
rate borrowing. 
 
The agency is expecting to achieve a AAA sovereign rating, however the UK no 
longer holds a AAA rating by all three agencies, therefore there is a risk that this may 
not be achieved. 
 
Conclusion 
The establishment of a Municipal Bonds Agency gives the opportunity for the Council 
to invest as well as borrow. The following points are worthy of note with regard to 
each area: 
 
Investments 

• Funds provided by Local Authorities are expected to be tied up for 10years 
with no guaranteed return, or even an estimate of the expected rate of return 
is provided. 

• The risk of undertaking long term investments with speculation of rising 
interest rates is high if the interest rate is to be fixed. 

• The Council has recently invested a further £7 million of its existing cash 
surpluses in an additional indirect property fund, bringing the total invested in 
such funds to £10 million. This surplus cash is likely in itself to be invested 
long term for a similar period to that of the municipal bond. 

• The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy categorises any investment 
more than 365 days as a non-specified investment.  The percentage of non- 
specified investments under the current Strategy is restricted to 25 % of the 
portfolio which is taken up in indirect property funds. Any move to increase 

9



this level of investment in non-specified funds, if it were to be recommended, 
would require Full Council approval. 
 

Borrowing 

• The Council has no requirement to externally borrow to finance its capital 
programme   Our internal borrowing – difference between CFR £220m and 
our actual borrowing £202m is £18m, and whilst does give us the ability to 
externally borrow with current PWLB rates of approximately 4% and 
investment interest earned at a rate of around 1% the case for not doing so is 
compelling. 

• The Councils need to borrow may change should the Council use its existing  
borrowing headroom on the HRA, of £36 million, or should it be awarded 
additional borrowing headroom to fund additional new house build arising 
from a recent bid to DCLG. 

• The rate at which borrowing would be undertaken is uncertain and may not be 
as favourable as PWLB. 

 
The financial implications of either investing in or borrowing from the Municipal Bond 
Agency are still to be clarified. The long term investment of sums in the agency is a 
risk in the current financial climate and would requireCouncil approval. The Council 
does not have a requirement for new external borrowing at this point in time and to 
do so would have an adverse financial impact on the Council. The Councils advisors, 
Capita, advise that the Council should wait for further clarification before becoming 
involved which is one that I would share and recommend. The position should be 
monitored and should the Councils requirement to borrow change in the future and 
the rates are better or comparable than other sources such as PWLB then this 
should be considered at the time. 
 
Councils expressing an interest in creation of Bond Agency 
 
The 18 Councils that have made a formal expression of interest in the creation of a 
Bond agency are: 

• Birmingham City Council 

• Cheshire West and Chester Council 

• City of London Corporation 

• East Dunbartonshire Council 

• Ipswich Borough Council 

• Lancashire County Council 

• London Borough of Lewisham 

• London  Borough of Southwark 

• London Borough of Sutton 

• London Borough of Richmond upon Thames 

• Newcastle City Council 

• Rochford District Council 

• Stevenage Borough Council 

• South Cambridgeshire District Council 

• Warrington Borough Council 

• Westminister City Council 

• Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 

10



_________________________________________ 

 
Revised Business Case Summary 
 
20 March 2014  

 

Municipal Bonds Agency  

 

 

 

 

Summary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

11



_________________________________________ 

Page 2 of 4 

Public interest case 
 
1. Councils source 75 per cent of their borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). 

That leaves councils vulnerable to interest rates set to deliver the government’s public 
borrowing plans.  The Municipal Bonds Agency would give councils greater control of interest 
rates and introduce competition and diversity to the marketplace.  The Agency could also offer 
lower penalties for early repayment of loans.  
 

2. Nordic experience has shown that an agency’s credit processes, with the incentive of lower 
borrowing costs and the oversight of peers, has strengthened the overall credit worthiness of 
local authorities. 

 
3. The experience of the Nordic Agencies has also shown that the Agency could pass onto 

councils the benefit of its research into public sector financing.  From this expertise it would be 
possible to develop advisory and tailored lending services and potentially facilitate intra 
authority lending. 

 
Local Authority and investor demand 
 
4. Councils will have new borrowing requirements for their capital programmes.   Our survey 

identified a borrowing requirement of £5 billion over the next three years from just 46 councils, 
with 43 expressing an interest in using the Agency. The outstanding stock of PWLB debt 
matures at £1.7 billion a year. Much of that will require refinancing. Borrowing from banks is 
forecast to become increasingly expensive.  It is estimated that annual local authority 
borrowing over the next three years will be between £3billion and £5 billion.  
 

5. Banks have indicated a likely significant investor demand for the Agency’s bonds. At the same 
price as Transport for London (TfL)’s double-A rated bonds, council borrowers would save 
around five basis points (bps) against the PWLB certainty rate (80bps). To achieve better bond 
pricing, the Agency would need an AAA/sovereign like rating.  That could be achievable by 
holding risk capital between three and five per cent; holding adequate liquidity; providing a joint 
and several guarantee from borrowers; and ensuring a diverse portfolio of borrowers. An 
AAA/sovereign like rating combined with a joint and several guarantee should deliver 
significant savings to borrowers. 
 

6. Because the Agency will be new to the market, it is likely to need to pay a new issue premium 
in the first one to two years.  This will affect the level of savings available to early borrowers.  
The savings in the previous paragraph will also depend on being able to issue bonds in 
benchmark sizes of between £250 million to £300 million; otherwise investors will demand a 
premium for illiquidity. 

 
Joint and several guarantee 
 
7. A joint and several guarantee creates the prospect of much cheaper borrowing. It will also 

enable the bonds to be listed on the London Stock Exchange.  Overall a joint and several 
guarantee could expect to reduce the Agency’s borrowing costs by 20 to 25 bps, saving £6.2 
million to £7.5 million over the life of a 30 year £100million loan. The risks of offering a joint and 
several guarantee are mitigated by: 

8.  

 Security over borrowing and the High court process 

 Proportionality/right of recourse 

 The risk capital and liquidity of the Agency 

 The Agency’s credit processes 

 Statutory and budgetary controls in councils 

12



_________________________________________ 

Page 3 of 4 

 The prudential code and minimum revenue provision 

 The statutory responsibilities of Finance Directors (section 151 officers) 

 Access to the PWLB 

 Government reserve powers. 
 
Operating model and capital structure 
 
9. The Agency should issue two bonds in its first year with approximately 30 to 40 borrowers. For 

the initial issues, council borrowing will need to match the bonds’ maturity profiles.  Agency 
staffing will start small and grow as the volume of transactions does. Most functions will be 
outsourced. The Agency is expected to break even by year three after around £2 billion of bond 
issuance.  It is estimated £8 million to £10 million of operating capital will be needed to cover 
launch and early operating costs and provide a buffer against risks.  

 
10. The Agency’s operating capital should be raised from councils or related bodies as common 

equity.  An equity structure would allow the trading of shares and give the Agency a decision 
making framework over profit retention and dividends.  The shareholding structure would have 
limits on individual level of control and give a fair return to initial shareholders for risk taking.  
Voting and economic rights should be de-coupled. 

 
11. Risk Capital will be required to support the first loss protection in the event of a borrower 

default and should be equivalent to three to five per cent of the loans made to councils. It will 
be raised through a proportion of a loan taken out by a borrower being retained by the Agency. 

 
Timeline 
 
12. The Agency should aim to issue its first bond to match the March/April 2015 peak in council 

borrowing.  A mobilisation phase should start once the decision to proceed is made and last six 
months. The mobilisation phase will cost approximately £0.8 million and would establish the 
corporate structure; hire of key personnel; establish the Board; identify the initial list of 
borrowers and investors in the Agency; design key policies and processes. 
 

Governance 
 
13. Control should rest with the LGA as the project sponsors in mobilisation phase. A project board 

should oversee execution, with CFO and political groups retaining an advisory role. Once 
appointed the Board of Directors (BoD) may operate in a shadow capacity until launch.  The 
project board in consultation with the BoD will determine the point at which the project moves 
into launch.  
 

14. At launch, the BoD will formally take control of the Agency.  The BoD will consist of: three 
members elected by shareholders, one of whom will be the Chair; a debt capital markets 
expert; a risk management expert; two council finance directors or equivalent.  The CEO may 
be a Director.  The initial board will be appointed by the LGA in conjunction with the project 
board and in consultation with the shareholders.  

 
Risk 
 
15. There are five key risks at this stage the most significant being that it may not be possible to 

raise the operating capital from councils or related bodies, despite it being an attractive 
investment. Other risks relate to council demand; market pricing; PWLB lowering its interest 
rates; and attracting the right calibre of personnel.   

  

13



_________________________________________ 

Page 4 of 4 

  

  

  

 

For more information please contact  

Paul Raynes 

Head of Programmes  

Local Government Association 

 

e-mail: paul.raynes@local.gov.uk 

Telephone:  020 7664 3037 

 

or 

 

John Wright 

Senior Adviser 

Local Government Association 

 

e-mail: john.wright@local.gov.uk 

Telephone: 020 7664 3146 

 

Local Government House 

Smith Square 

London SW1P 3HZ  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14

mailto:paul.raynes@local.gov.uk
mailto:john.wright@local.gov.uk


1 
 

Municipal Bonds Agency Q & A 
 
What will the Agency be? 
 
It will be an independent company owned by local government with the sole aim of 
reducing financing costs for councils through arranging lending at competitive interest 
rates. It is envisaged that the company will fund lending through any or all of the 
following: 
 

 Raising money on the capital markets through issuing bonds 

 Arranging lending or borrowing directly from local authorities 

 Sourcing funding from other third party sources, such as banks, pension funds 
or insurance companies. 

  
What is the purpose of the Agency? 
 
It will offer councils a viable alternative source of capital funding at a lower cost than 
existing sources and introduce sector owned diversity into the local government 
lending market.  It will allow local authorities greater control over their funding costs 
in the future, by being able to demonstrate the value of peer pressure and capital 
market disciplines 
 
Who would own it? 
 
It will be owned solely by the local authorities or their pension funds that invest in its 
establishment. They will become shareholders in the Agency and therefore have a 
say in the way it is run. In due course, we would expect to be able to accommodate 
all local authorities, who wish to become shareholders.  
 
Who would run it?  
 
The Agency expects to have a wide local authority shareholder base. It will be a 
limited company, with its own Board of Directors comprising local authority finance 
experts, financial services experts from risk management and debt capital markets 
backgrounds and representatives elected by shareholders, all of who will go through 
a rigorous selection process.  
 
How will councils recoup their investments? 
 
It is envisaged that once the Agency is generating sufficient profit, it would be able to 
start paying a dividend to investors, while delivering economic benefits to borrowers.  
Its aim, as reflected in its incorporation documents, will be to deliver an overall 
benefit to the local government sector as a whole, and any future dividend policy set 
by its board would be subject to that.  Its shares will be transferrable and therefore a 
council could sell its shares to other local authorities or eligible public bodies. 
 
 
Does it have Ministerial support? 
 
The Government’s view is that it is within the powers of local authorities to establish a 
municipal bond agency.  Ministers have said, “It remains for the local authority sector 
to determine collectively whether a local authority bond agency could be delivered on 

15



2 
 

a sustainable and affordable footing.  It is consistent with the localism agenda that 
the autonomous local government sector considers whether it is able to deliver and 
sustain alternative financing models.” 
 
What happens if the Public Works Loans Board changes its interest rates? 
 
The effect of PWLB rate change on the Bonds Agency’s business would depend on 
its amount and how permanent the change was.  The business case assesses the 
risk from future PWLB competition.  Nevertheless the Treasury has said publicly that 
reducing PWLB margins is not being considered.   
 
How long will it take to establish the Agency? 
 
The business case assumes that the Agency would be ready to issue its first bonds 
in March/April 2015 to meet the normal peaks in council demand for borrowing. 
 
Is additional legislation required to enable the Agency to be established? 
 
No.  Councils have the necessary powers. 
  
What impact will this proposal have on the Government’s control of overall 
government borrowing? 
 
Nothing in this proposal seeks to change existing arrangements.  The proposals do 
not facilitate additional borrowing over what is already permitted within the capital 
regulatory system.  The existing arrangements with the Government retaining 
ultimate regulatory control are to be maintained and borrowing authorities will be 
required to operate within the current prudential code.  What it will do is, for any given 
level of borrowing, reduce the interest bill local taxpayers have to fund. 
 
Is it legal for councils to guarantee each other’s debts? 
 
Our very clear legal advice is that the General Power of Competence (GPC) 
introduced in the Localism Act 2011 gives English councils the power to do this.  
Because the GPC does not cover other public bodies such as Police, Fire and 
National Park Authorities, it is less clear whether they could do the same without a 
change in the legislation, which applies to them.   
 
Should councils be concerned about providing a joint and several guarantee? 
 
The Agency will have in place a credit process, underpinned by ongoing monitoring; 
risk and liquidity capital; and a right of recourse, which will ensure, in the event of the 
guarantee being called, that it will be applied proportionally.  Even were the 
guarantee to be called, creditors would be confident of receiving their money back in 
time.  The protections available would be stronger than currently apply in the case of 
inter-council lending.  Nevertheless, no local authority has ever defaulted and for the 
joint and several guarantee to be called an unprecedented situation would have 
arisen.   
 
 
 
 

16



3 
 

What controls are in place to prevent a default and what measures are available 
to a council to recover sums owing to it? 
 
There are a range of controls designed to prevent a Local Authority from defaulting 
on its obligations. In addition, there are legislative measures that are likely to ensure 
that even if a Local Authority does default, its creditors are able to recover sums 
owing to them. These controls and measures include: 

 Councils are statutorily prevented from borrowing to avoid raising taxes and 
cutting spending, thereby reducing the risk of a council entering financial 
distress. 

 The prudential code forces councils to consider whether borrowing is 
affordable and financially sustainable. 

 The responsibility of Section 151 officers under Section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 to ensure that councils can meet their 
obligations as they fall due, and to formally report if the council’s expenditure 
will exceed its resources. 

 Continuing access to the PWLB for liquidity support. 

 Government reserve powers to intervene.  To date, the Government has not 
allowed any Local Authority to default on its obligations. 

 If a Local Authority defaults on a debt greater than £10,000 for a period of two 
months, under Section 13(5) of the Local Government Act 2003 a creditor may 
apply to the High Court for an administrator to be appointed.  This process 
should ensure that any Local Authority that is called upon under the guarantee 
can recover the debt via the courts if need be.  The powers of the 
administrator will be determined by the High Court, but can include: 

o Collecting, receiving or recovering the revenues of the local authority 
o Issuing levies or precepts; or 
o Setting, collecting or recovering Council Tax. 

 
What is the reaction of local authorities to the establishment of an agency? 
 
A significant number of local authorities have been very supportive of the initiative to 
date, devoting time and resources to help ensure that the business case is fully 
robust. As part of the business case review, we carried out a survey of English 
councils and, in addition, presented at a number of local authority conferences.  
Since publishing the revised business case we have spoken directly to over 90 
councils. These recent conversations, the survey, and conference feedback, have 
confirmed to us that there is significant demand for an alternative, local authority 
controlled, source of capital finance 
 
How much will it cost? 
 
We are looking to raise £8 to £10 million capital, which includes a buffer to ensure 
that the agency is well capitalised. Our project plans envisage that this will be used 
within a staged process, with a number of checkpoints overseen by a rigorous 
governance process.  We have established the Local Capital Finance Company Ltd 
and have now presented a firm investment proposition to all councils and related 
bodies, such as local authority pension funds, in an Information Memorandum. 
 
 
 

17



4 
 

Haven’t local authorities stopped borrowing money and therefore will there be 
a sufficient volume to support the agency’s business plan? 
 
It is correct that volumes of local authority borrowing have reduced recently. There 
are a number of reasons for this: low interest rates have resulted in councils doing 
more short term borrowing from each other; many councils have a legacy of long 
dated debt overhang and LOBO structures; and councils have reduced capital 
spending, partly driven by reduced headroom on their revenue accounts and recent 
austerity measures. However, discussions with councils reveal significant future 
demand for borrowing, which will be required for: local enterprise partnerships, city 
deals, town centre rejuvenation projects, roads, housing, schools and simply to 
maintain the nation’s capital stock.  The maintenance backlog on local roads alone 
now stands at £12 billion.  
 
Will the Agency require councils to undergo a credit process? 
 
Yes. Providers of finance, be they bond market investors, banks or non-bank 
providers of credit will expect a credit process to have been undertaken. The credit 
process will underpin the agency’s credit rating, thus enabling it to achieve the 
keenest rates of interest. The credit process will be tailored to councils and the 
Agency and will not be excessively onerous.  
 
Will borrowers have to pay interest rates higher than PWLB interest rates? 
 
We cannot foresee circumstances when this would occur.  Section 8 (page 53) of the 
business case sets out the pricing strategy, which is driven by the need for the 
Agency to deliver savings to its local authority borrowers.  It can be found at this link:   
 
 
 
 

18

http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11531/MBA+Report+Final.pdf/037bbcf0-e7f5-4f06-946e-98e7e824ce49

	Agenda
	2 Work programme
	3 Budget Scrutiny scope and timetable
	4 Municipal Bonds
	MBA Business Case Summary Mar 14 v3 cover sheet
	Municipal Bonds Agency QA Jun 14 - final


